INTRODUCTION

i

.

The parties will be referred to as they stand in this Court; and, as "Husband" and "Wife."

The trial transcript is referred to as "TR" and the appendix is referred to as "App."

Emphasis has been supplied by the writer unless otherwise indicated.

MAURICE JAY KUTNER, P. A., ATTORNEY AT LAW

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The marriage of PAULINE S. WEISFELD and DAVID J. WEISFELD was dissolved by the Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida on June 16, 1986 (App. 1-7). The Wife was awarded rehabilitative alimony in the sum of One Hundred Dollars (\$100.00) weekly for a period of two years from the date of the Final Judgment.

The Husband has been paralyzed since May of 1980 (TR. 60-61, 227); had gall bladder surgery and a heart attack in 1982 (TR. 100, 213-345); was under the care of a psychiatrist; and, is incontinent of urine and feces (TR. 211-213, 210, 218).

The trial Court, " . . . In an attempt to balance the equities, the Court recognizes[d] that the Husband has specially adapted this home to fit his needs¹ and maintains same as an office" (App. 5-6), the Husband was awarded exclusive possession of the marital home subject to his " . . . death, remarriage or cohabitation² with a female" (App. 6).

Certificates of deposit titled in the Husband's name and derived as a result of his personal injuries were retained by him (a sum approximating One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars

¹The Husband is paralyzed, confined to a wheelchair and has a small private practice in the field of clinical psychology, which he conducts in his home.

²The Husband's Cross-Appeal on this point was held to be moot; and, Wife's counsel conceded error in connection with the inclusion of cohabitation as a basis for termination of the Husband's exclusive possession of the marital home (See footnote three of the opinion of the Court below, App. 14).

(\$150,000.00)). The Husband received "...two lump sum medical payments," (TR 61 and App.16) totalling One Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$100,000.00). An additional Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) "...was paid out..." (<u>ibid</u>). The monies received by the Husband were awarded to him "...By Dade County for medical expenses, current and future (TR 72; App. 17)." The trial Court stated:

> "G. The Court awards sole title and entitlement to all bonds and Certificates of Deposit to the Husband. It is the finding of the Court that these monies were derived as the result of the injuries the Husband sustained and cannot, by any sketch[sic] of the imagination, be considered marital assets, but belong to the Husband alone."

The Wife appealed to the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District, and on September 8, 1987, the trial Court's decision was reversed (App. 8-15).

The Appellate Court reversed, holding that "... this appears to be a case of first impression³ in Florida ... " (App. 9); and, after reviewing the various approaches to the issue, from jurisdictions around the Country, remanded the case to the trial Court to establish in accordance with the "analytical approach," what portion of the Husband's personal injury

³The Third District also noted "our supreme court has not considered this question and consequently has not adopted either the so called mechanistic or analytical approach" (App. 12).

would be subject to equitable distribution.

While the trial Court permitted the Husband to retain the monies awarded to him as a result of his injuries, the Court below reversed that award and remanded this cause to the trial Court with directions to determine what portion of the award constitutes marital property, subject to equitable distribution (App. 8-15).

This Court granted certiorari on April 28, 1988; and, Oral Argument is scheduled for August 31, 1988.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner was awarded One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$150,000.00) as a worker's compensation recovery and strenuously urges the Court to allow him to keep those funds for his personal welfare, medical expenses and health care. Those funds are not subject to equitable distribution.

The Petitioner was also awarded exclusive use of a marital residence which was modified for his special needs. He is entitled to exclusive use subject to his death or remarriage.

- 5 -

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE HUSBAND'S WORKER'S COMPENSATION AWARD IS NOT SUBJECT TO EQUITABLE DIS-TRIBUTION; AND, THE FINAL JUDGMENT REN-DERED AT THE TRIAL LEVEL SHOULD BE RE-INSTATED.

The monies⁴ received by the Husband as a worker's compensation award are not a marital asset subject to equitable distribution. In holding that a disability pension is not a marital asset⁵, Judge Upchurch, writing for the Fifth District Court of Appeal, in Freeman v. Freeman, 468 So.2d 326 (Fla. App. 5th District April 11, 1985), stated:

> "Such a pension is designed to compensate an employee for lost earnings and injuries (including pain and suffering) sustained on the job" (See Freeman v. Freeman, Supra, at page 328).

The Petitioner believes it to be significant that no portion of the worker's compensation award received by him was attributable to loss of consortium or in any way allocated to any loss of the Wife.

⁴A relative pittance, based upon the catastrophic nature of his injury and disability.

⁵The Court held that the disability pension could be considered in determining spousal or child support.

While the Court below set forth a lengthy analysis and summary of holdings reached in other jurisdictions, the Husband urges this Court and is of the opinion, that each case must be determined based upon its own peculiar facts as suggested in the *Florida Bar Journal* titled "Distribution of Personal Injury Awards Upon Divorce" by Marsha B. Elser and Jared G. Anton (16 Fla. Bar Journal 6, June, 1982). As set forth in the article, the factors to be considered include:

> "(1) Any allocation set forth in the jury verdict making the personal injury award.

> (2) The proximity in time of the dissolution action from the accrual of the personal injury cause of action.

> (3) The severity of the injury and the permanence of any physical handicap.

(4) Whether the injury sustained affected the duration of the marriage.

(5) The effect of the injury on the conduct of the parties.

(6) Any other factors which should be considered to bring about an equitable result.

Equity, we believe, is better served by the discretion of the trial judge than by any hard and fast rule such as those suggested by some of our sister states (<u>lbid</u>, at Page 557)."

Based upon the monumental medical and related health expenses faced by Petitioner for the rest of his life, it is ludicrous and an exercise in judicial futility to remand this cause to the trial Court for a determination as to how the Wife is to share in a fund (probably nonexistent at this point) insufficient to begin to provide for Petitioner's needs.

MAURICE JAY KUTNER, P.A., ATTORNEY AT LAW

For all of the reasons stated, the discretion exercised by the trial Court should prevail; and, its Final Judgment reinstated.

Finally, the record in this cause shows unequivocally, that the monies received by the Husband were for "current and future medical expenses" (TR. 72; App. 17).

۰, ۱

r

The second s

۰.,

ne and a second s

A PROPERTY AND A PROPERTY OF

1. I had the new parts of

- 8 --

.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DESCRETION IN AWARDING TO THE HUSBAND, EXCLUSIVE POSSESSION OF THE MARITAL RESIDENCE.

The marital residence has been customized to accomodate the Husband's catostrophic injury. An addition to the home serves as a waiting room for patients; contains an outside ramp; and has a separate doorway; large bathroom; and, whiripool tub (TR. 101-102).

It is interesting that while the Court below found error in the award of exclusive use to the Husband, it concluded in footnote four of its opinion (App. 14):

> "This opinion is in no way intended to hold or imply that the trial court may not, on remand, fashion the awards so that Mr. Weisfeld may continue to reside in the parties' marital home. On the contrary, we recognize that such an outcome would be equitable under the circumstances of this case."

Again, the trial Court is apparently directed by the Appellate Court to accomplish what appears to be an impossible task (i.e. allow the Husband to remain in the marital residence while finding some ingenious method of compensating the Wife for her equity).

Under the circumstances of this case, both parties are in the unfortunate position of having to deal with the tragedy

- 9 --

MAURICE JAY KUTNER, P. A., ATTORNEY AT LAW

which has befallen the Husband. However, it is the Husband who requires the use of a residence which has been altered to accomodate his physical and professional needs. At this stage it appears obvious that this residence is a necessity for his survival.

In Duncan v. Duncan, 379 So.2d 949 (Fla. 1980), this Court heid:

"Exclusive Possession of Property

[4,5] The award of exclusive possession of property subject to disposition in a dissolution proceeding should either be directly connected to the obligation to pay support or be temporarily necessary to prevent reduction in the value of the subject property. The critical question is whether the award is equitable and just given the nature of the case Α grant of exclusive possession of property to one of the parties in a final judgment must serve a special purpose. See, e.g., McDonald v. McDonald, 368 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1979) (a form of rehabilitative alimony for a spouse demonstrating a need); George v. George, 360 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978) (aid to a child who had reached majority but who had a debilitating muscular disorder); Lange v. Lange, 357 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) (aid to a spouse with mental problems); and Richardson v. Richardson, 315 So.2d 513 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975) (aid to a spouse with custody of minors). In each of these instances, the exclusive possession is actually a facet of support and is clearly warranted because of the equity of the cause. We can foresee the need to grant temporary exclusive possession of a family business in order to ensure income for support and to avoid an immediate substantial reduction in value.

[6] We reject the asserted inflexible rule that an award of exclusive possession of property must be limited to the home. that it benefit only a spouse with minor children, and that it must terminate when all children born of the marriage have attained the age of majority. McDonald v. McDonald. In so holding, we disapprove Church v. Church, 338 So.2d 544 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976); Watson v. Watson, 324 So.2d 126 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975); Ranes v. Ranes; and Saviteer v. McAdoo.

[7] An award of exclusive use of property must be determined by the equity of the cause and should be for a specific period. It is always the subject to modification whenever there is a change of circumstances."

Significantly, the teachings of Duncan are:

1. The prior inflexible rule limiting exclusive use awards to spouses with minor children is rejected;

2. An award of exclusive use of property must be determined by the equity of the cause;

3. The critical question is whether the award is equitable and just or given the nature of the case.

Based upon the mandate of the Court below, the Husband would be required to undertake the mechanics of seeking support from the Wife by amending his pleadings on remand. Such a costly and time consuming procedure is unproductive in the face of the overwhelming need and justification for the exclusive use award, presented by the compelling circumstances involved in this case. The necessity and justification for the exclusive use award does not appear to be in dispute.

MAURICE JAY KUTNER, P. A., ATTORNEY AT LAW

CONCLUSION

For all the reasons stated, the Court is requested to reinstate the Final Judgment entered by the trial Court; and, to remand this cause with directions to:

> 1. Amend the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage by striking the award for attorney's fees (conceded as error); and,

> 2. Striking cohabitation as a contingency resulting in termination of the Husband's exclusive use of the marital home.

MAURICE JAY KUTNER, P. A., ATTORNEY AT LAW