DA 1.31.88

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

DAVID J. WEISFELD,

Petitioner,

vs.

PAULINE S. WEISFELD,

Respondent.

CASE # 71,579

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF BALDWIN & FRIEDMAN Attornies for Respondent 2020 N.E. 163 Street, Suite 300 North Miami Beach, Florida 33162 Telephone: 305-944-9100

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The decision of the District Court holding that the Petitioner's Worker's Compensation Award constituted marital property subject to equitable distribution was correct and should be approved by this Court.

The decision of the District Court holding that the trial court erred in awarding exclusive possession of the entireties property to Mr. Weisfeld should also be approved. The entire cause should be remanded to the trial court in accordance with the opinion of the District Court.

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE APPELLEE'S WORKERS' COMPENSATION AWARD CONSTITUTED MARITALE PROPERTY SUBJECT TO EQUITABLE DISTRIBUTION

Workers' The Petitioner arques that his Compensation award is not marital property subject to equitable distribution, and, that the trial court's Final Judgment should be reinstated. In tendering this argument, the Petitioner ignores the record established the trial of this matter, and the well-reasoned opinion of the District Court below. The Respondent contends that the District Court panel was correct determining that the analytical approach should apply and that the Final Judgment should be reversed because it fails to equitably distribute the parties' assets.

The Petitioner's factual contention that the purpose of his Workman's Compensation award was to compensate him for current and future medical expenses is based on nothing more than his own self-serving testimony. There was nothing else in the record to demonstrate that the award was not for lost wages and past medical expenses. The bulk of the award was received in 1981, long prior to the commencement of this

divorce litigation. It is obvious that, to the extent the award was meant to compensate for current medical expenses, if any, those expenses were incurred by the parties jointly in the period after its receipt and prior to the litigation.

In the instant case. Mr. Weisfeld received his \$150,000.00 Workers' Compensation award due to the injuries he suffered on the job in 1979. The record demonstrates that most of the award had been received prior to the final hearing, and that the initial lump award of \$100,000.00 was used to purchase certificates of deposit and a bank repurchase agreement in the names of the parties jointly. Moreover, the interest from these investments was placed into the parties' joint bank account and used for ordinary family Subsequently, Mr. Weisfeld converted some of the certificates of deposit into new certificates in his name in trust for Mrs. Weisfeld, and then used some of those assets to acquire municipal bonds in his name alone, while converting other certificates of deposit into new certificates in his name alone and/or in trust for the parties' children.

In Antonini v. Antonini, 473 So.2d 739 (Fla. App. 1 DCA, 1985), rev. denied 484 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1986), the appellate court affirmed the trial court's denial of the

wife's claim of a special equity in a sailing vessel purchased with funds derived from her settlement of a personal injury claim. Because the settlement proceeds were combined with other joint funds to purchase a certificate of deposit in the parties joint names which was later used to purchase the boat, the court concluded that the settlement proceeds had lost their separate identity for the purposes of the special equity analysis.

The District Court's analysis of how other jurisdictions have treated personal injury and workers' compensation awards upon dissolution is complete, well-reasoned and persuasive. The analytical approach recommended by the District Court is both logical and fair in granting to both spouses a fair share of any recovery for personal injury and should be adopted by this Court. However, the result is equally supported by the logic of the Antonini, supra, decision, since the record clearly demonstrates that the initial lump sum payment was placed in jointly held assets.

The essence of the issue in this case revolves around the trial court's failure to equitably distribute the assets of the parties. As the District Court noted in its opinion, Mrs. Weisfeld was shortchanged by the trial court's disposition of the cause, because it

permits "... Mr. Weisfeld to continue to live in the same life-style which he enjoyed during his marriage, while Mrs. Weisfeld's life-style is severely curtailed."

(A. 14)

The Petitioner argues that it is "...an exercise in judicial futility to remand this cause to the trial court ..." The Respondent submits that this argument is untenable because it is based on facts not in the record. In essence, the Petitioner urges this Court to rule on a set of conjectured facts and conduct a trial de novo. The reality reflected in the record demonstrates that the trial court was wrong as a matter of law in assuming that no portion of the Workman's Compensation award could be marital property subject to equitable distribution.

In <u>Freeman v. Freeman</u>, 468 So.2d 326 (Fla. App. 5 DCA, 1985), the Fifth District Court of Appeal held that a private disability pension was not marital property subject to equitable distribution. In reversing an award of an interest in the pension to the uninjured spouse, the <u>Freeman</u>, court noted that the private disability pension "... is designed to compensate an employee for lost earnings and injuries (including pain and suffering) sustained on the job." 468 So.2d at 328

The Respondent argues that the Freeman, supra,

decision should be disapproved to the extent that it holds that wages lost during the marriage can never be marital property subject to equitable distribution. The decision by the Third District Court of Appeal in the instant case is not in conflict with <u>Freeman</u>, supra, with respect to awards for pain and suffering. However, based on the facts of particular cases, the trial courts of our state should be appropriately guided by adoption of the analytical approach. The <u>Freeman</u>, supra, theory, that even lost wages can not be marital property is illogical in the sense that recovery of monies which would have been shared jointly are allocated solely to one spouse.

In the instant case, the record demonstrates that the parties pooled their incomes and liabilities, as most married couples do. Under the analytical approach adopted in the opinion below, those aspects of a recovery for personal injury which represent the separate property of one spouse, such as pain and suffering, or loss of consortium, would be allocated to that spouse, while those portions of the recovery which represent joint property, such as lost wages, are to be considered marital property subject to an appropriate scheme of equitable distribution. This approach to the problem seems eminently fair to both spouses, while the

Freeman, supra, theory could easily result in an inequitable distribution of marital assets. Accordingly, this Court should decline to grant its Writ of Certiorari and should approve the decision of the District Court in this cause.

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE PETITIONER EXCLUSIVE POSSESSION OF THE MARITAL HOME

The Petitioner argues that the trial court's award of exclusive possession of the marital home should be reinstated because it is equitable and just under the circumstances. The Petitioner quotes at length from <u>Duncan v. Duncan</u>, 379 So.2d 949 (Fla. 1980) on this issue, but ignores the predicate required by <u>Duncan</u>, that

"...exclusive possession of property subject to disposition in a dissolution proceeding should either be <u>directly related</u> to the obligation to pay support or be temporarily necessary to prevent reduction in the value of the subject property." 379 So.2d at 952 (Emphasis supplied)

Contrary to the thrust of Petitioner's argument, the succeeding language in the opinion, requiring that the award be equitable and just under the circumstances, does not qualify the above-quoted language so as to provide an independent basis for awarding exclusive possession of entireties property.

In the Final Judgment below, the trial court declined to award either party's interest in the marital

home to the other or to partition the home, but granted Mr. Weisfeld exclusive possession of the premises for an indefinite period, conditioned upon the possession ending in the event that he died, remarried or cohabited with another woman. The District Court found that the exclusive possession award was fatally flawed on this record, even though the purpose was admirable, because it could not meet the direct connection to support liability required by <u>Duncan</u>, supra.

The Respondent contends that Mr. Weisfeld's physical condition and the improvements made to the home in order to accommodate his needs and facilitate his private practice justify his remaining in the home. However, the disposition ordered by the trial court is improper because it does not balance the equities between the parties, does not equitably distribute the parties' assets, and deprives the Petitioner of her interest in the home for an indefinite period without any compensation.

In the instant case, reduction in value of the property had nothing to do with the award, and the parties' children were emancipated prior to the dissolution. In addition, the award could not be justified as an incident of spousal support, since there is nothing in the record upon which to base the

conclusion that Mr. Weisfeld was in need of support from Mrs. Weisfeld or that she was able to support him. While his special needs are readily apparent, it is impossible to say on this record that she is liable for his support when the facts demonstrate clearly that she is not totally self-supporting, the trial court implicitly found her in need of support and Mr. Weisfeld able to pay the alimony, and her one half interest in the marital home was determined to be her only material asset.

As this Court stated in Duncan, supra, a grant of exclusive possession of property "... must serve a special purpose." 379 So.2d at 952, and the crucial question "... is whether the award is equitable and just given the nature of the case." 379 So.2d at 952. the instant case, the special purpose to be served obvious, but the Appellant contends that the award just or equitable due to the totality of circumstances. The evidence adduced at trial demonstrated plainly that Mr. Weisfeld was in possession of assets greatly exceeding Mrs. Weisfeld's equity in the home, and that she was not the cause of Weisfeld's physical disabilities. The trial court's well-intentioned attempt to accommodate Mr. Weisfeld's physical difficulties by granting exclusive possession

was not equitable under the circumstances because Mrs. Weisfeld's interest in the home is her only asset, and the award of indefinite exclusive possession to Mr. Weisfeld obviously deprives her of the use of that asset.

The award of exclusive possession to Mr. Weisfeld also erroneous because it fails to compensate Mrs. Weisfeld for being deprived of the use and enjoyment of her only material asset. In <u>Cone v. Cone</u>, 449 So.2d 867 (Fla. App. 5 DCA, 1984), the Fifth District Court of Appeal specifically noted that a joint owner of property is entitled to reimbursement for the use value of his or her interest in the property where, as here, the party out of possession does not have a legal duty to support the occupant. In Schein v. Schein, 448 So.2d 16 (Fla. App. 3 DCA, 1984), the Third District Court of Appeal also recognized that it is not appropriate to award one spouse rent-free possession of the marital residence in absence of a duty to support the occupant and remanded the cause for a determination of the amount of rent to be paid by the party in possession.

In the case at bar, reimbursement alone would not have cured the error in awarding exclusive possession to Mr. Weisfeld because the facts clearly demonstrated Mrs. Weisfeld's need for support in the present and the

foreseeable future, whereas the award of exclusive possession has no specific termination date. Unlike an award of exclusive possession as an incident of child support, which will terminate at a particular date when the children reach their majority, the award in this case is indefinite. Moreover, the Final Judgment left Mrs. Weisfeld with no other assets, so that she would never accumulate any material assets to purchase a new home or provide for retirement, even if she received compensation for the rental value of the former marital home.

In the instant case, the Respondent contends that the above-mentioned problems attendant to awarding Mr. Weisfeld exclusive possession of the former marital home could have been avoided by awarding Mrs. Weisfeld's interest in the home to Mr. Weisfeld as lump sum alimony, and compensating Mrs. Weisfeld by an award of cash as lump sum alimony in an amount sufficient to compensate her for her share of the equity in the home and to equitably distribute the marital assets.

A careful review of the record will demonstrate that no other disposition of the matter makes any sense because Mr. Weisfeld's special needs do not support a partition order, and Mrs. Weisfeld's relative lack of assets and earning power do not support an award of

alimony to Mr. Weisfeld. Since an award of exclusive possession of the marital home cannot be justified in this case, <u>Duncan</u>, supra, the only practical way to keep Mr. Weisfeld in possession of the premises which have been adapted to his special needs, and to avoid partition, is to order reciprocal lump sum alimony awards. The District Court opinion recognizes this possible result implicitly (A. 14-15) and should be approved.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the District Court reversing the court's determination that no part of Mr. Compensation award could bе Weisfeld's Workers' wellconsidered marital property was correct and The analytical approach to determining reasoned. whether recoveries for personal injury or from Workers' Compensation are marital property subject to equitable distribution is the majority rule in other jurisdictions and reflects a fundamental fairness to both spouses while requiring proof of appropriate facts This issue is certain to arise in equities. significant number of dissolution actions throughout our state, so that clarification of the law is essential. The holding of the District Court should be approved because it provides specific guidance to our trial courts without disturbing the traditional powers of the fact finder and chancellor to address the equities of specific cause in distributing property the dissolution.

The District Court's reversal of the exclusive possession award should likewise be approved. To do otherwise would be to recede from the direct connection

to a support obligation required by <u>Duncan</u>, supra. The exclusive possession award in this case is intimately related to the equitable distribution issue and remand to the trial court is the only appropriate remedy. As the District Court distinctly hinted (A. 14-15), reciprocal lump sum alimony awards placing Mr. Weisfeld in control of the marital home and compensating Mrs. Weisfeld for her equity therein would be a fairer dispostion of the cause.

Based on the foregoing reasons and authorities, the Respondent urges this Court to deny the Petition and approve the decision of the District Court entered below.